THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

**Feb 16 2021**

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

**SC Court of Appeals**

Court of Common Pleas

Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Circuit Case No. 2018-CP-10-00262

Appellate Case 2020-000921

MARSH WATERPROOFING, INC.

Respondent,

v.

STEEPLE DORCHESTER, LTD. and  
HAMILTON MANAGEMENT SERVICES COMPANY, INC.

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS STEEPLE DORCHESTER, LTD. and  
HAMILTON MANAGEMENT SERVICES COMPANY, INC.

C. Clay Olson, SC Bar No. 17007

Harper Little, PLLC

164 Market Street Suite 139

Charleston, SC 29401

clay@harperlittlelaw.com

Attorney for Appellants

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WHETHER THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS ERRED BY ENTERING A MONEY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF AN UNLICENSED CONTRACTOR IN VIOLATION OF S.C. CODE §§40-11-370 AND 40-11-30.
2. WHETHER THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS ERRED IN ISSUING A MONEY JUDGMENT AGAINST DEFENDANT HAMILTON MANAGEMENT SERVICES COMPANY, INC. WHEN PLAINTIFF FAILED TO PROVIDE ANY EVIDENCE THAT HAMILTON MANAGEMENT SERVICES COMPANY, INC. WAS A PARTY TO ANY CONTRACT OR THAT IT HELD ANY INTEREST IN THE SUBJECT REAL PROPERTY.
3. WHETHER THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS ERRED IN GRANTING A JUDGMENT ON THE MECHANIC'S LIEN AS IT WAS NOT A JUDICIABLE MATTER.
4. WHETHER THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS ERRED IN AWARDING ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS TO PLAINTIFF AGAINST HAMILTON WHERE THERE WAS NO CONTRACTUAL OR STATUTORY AUTHORITY TO DO SO.
5. WHETHER THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS ERRED IN NOT GRANTING A NEW TRIAL PURSUANT TO SOUTH CAROLINA RULE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 59(a).
6. WHETHER THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS ERRED IN NOT GRANTING RECONSIDERATION PURSUANT TO SOUTH CAROLINA RULE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 59(e).

## I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is before the Court on appeal from a bench trial and subsequent Order of the Court of Common Pleas, Charleston County dated March 11, 2020 entered by the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr. (**R. pp. 13–26**). On May 11, 2020, Judge Addy entered an Order denying Appellants Rule 59 Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment of the March 11, 2020 Final Order. (**R. pp. 27-32**).

### A. The Parties

Appellant Steeple Dorchester Ltd. (“Dorchester”) was an entity which operated a Church’s Chicken franchise located on Dorchester Road in North Charleston, South Carolina. Appellant Hamilton Management Services Company (“Hamilton”) provided payroll expertise and other professional services to Dorchester.

Respondent Marsh Waterproofing, Inc. (“Marsh”) hails from Vidor, Texas. Marsh was hired to provide structural renovation services at the Church’s location situated at 4353 Dorchester Road in North Charleston, South Carolina. (“Project” or “Subject Property”).

### B. The Underlying Facts

On August 1<sup>st</sup>, 2016, the hollow, unsupported crawl space at a Church’s Chicken in Livingston, Texas collapsed under the weight of heavy kitchen equipment resulting in catastrophic injuries to three Church’s employees. (Polk County Today *Floor Collapse at Restaurant, 3 Critically Burned* August 1<sup>st</sup>, 2016). The Livingston tragedy prompted Church’s to commission engineering firm Davis Patrikios Criswell, Inc. (“DPC”) to inspect and evaluate the ground floor structural systems at various restaurant locations including the Subject Property.

Following the inspections, DPC recommended ‘immediate structural support be provided for all structural members in the crawlspace.’ (**R. p. 101, lines 9-11**); (**R. p. 532, lines 4-6**). The

engineer recommended that Alchemy Polymers AP Lift 430—a ‘high density expanding closed cell structural foam system’—be installed in the crawlspace. **(R. p. 104, lines 15-17); (R. p. 161, lines 15-27)**. AP Lift 430 is a two-component, structural polyurethane foam.<sup>1</sup> **(R. p. 532, lines 8-9)**. Marsh sent a proposal to “Church’s Chicken, State Acquisition, LLC, Attn: Alexander Burns” on July 10, 2017. Alexander Burns accepted the proposal on July 21, 2017. **(R. pp. 544-545)**.

The Respondent failed to pull a building permit at the Project. **(R. p. 104, lines 36-38); (R. p. 161 lines 36-38); (R. p. 398, line 25-p. 399, line 2)**. Therefore, local building officials have never inspected the renovation work completed by Marsh.

### **C. The Contractor’s Licensing Board Proceeding.**

On or about April 5, 2018, Marsh was issued a citation by the South Carolina Contractors’ Licensing Board and shortly thereafter a Cease and Desist Order. **(R. p. 100, line 26-p. 101, line 2); (R. p. 157 line 26-p. 158, line 2)**. Marsh appealed both citations to the Contractor’s Licensing Board. In the Matter of Marsh Waterproofing Inc, Case No. 2017-354 (“Contractors Licensing Board Action”). **Id.** On June 21, 2019, a final order hearing was held before Daniel Lehman, a hearing officer appointed by the South Carolina Contractor’s Licensing Board, as a result of the Marsh’s Notice of Citation Appeals. The Appellant was not a party to these proceedings. On July 23, 2019, the South Carolina Contractor’s Licensing Board provided

---

<sup>1</sup> The engineering report, dated June 12, 2017, which was prepared by Davis Patrikios Criswell, Inc. **(R. pp. 526-541)**, actually further establishes the structural nature of Marsh’s work as one of the reasons for insertion of the foam. “The observed structural condition indicates that failure of the floor system is imminent.” **(R. p. 531, lines 24-25)**. It goes on to state that “any additional localized failure of the floor system could result in catastrophic collapse of the entire structure.” **(R. p. 531, lines 25-26)**. Several recommendations are made to achieve “sound structural foam installation results.” **(R. p. 532, lines 15-16)**.

a written Final Order in the matter (“LLR Order”).<sup>2</sup> **(R. pp. 100-106, line 26-p. 101, line 2); (R. pp. 157-162).**

The Order concluded that Marsh’s scope of work was structural in nature and required a general contractor's license pursuant to S.C. Code Ann §§ 40-11-20(8) and 40-11-410(1) (1976, as amended) violated S.C. Code Ann. § 40-11-110(A)(5). **(R. p. 104, lines 13-20); (R. p. 161, lines 13-20).** Furthermore, the Contractor’s Licensing Board held that Marsh engaged in contracting work in South Carolina when not properly licensed.<sup>3</sup> **Id.** The Order determined that Marsh violated S.C. Code Ann. § 40-11-110(A)(5) by performing structural repairs without possessing a license. **(R. p. 104, lines 36-38); (R. p. 161, lines 36-38).**

By Respondent’s own admission, it was not licensed in the State of South Carolina to perform any general or mechanical contracting work. **(R. p. 101, lines 2-4); (R. p. 399, lines 3-5).** Although the Contractor’s Licensing Board elected not to impose punishment or monetary sanction for Marsh’s violations, the hearing officer found that “Marsh violated S.C. Code Ann. §40-11-110(A)(5) in that [Marsh] engaged in contracting work in South Carolina when not properly licensed or supervised by a licensee licensed in the required license group and classification.” **(R. p. 104, lines 36-38); (R. p. 161, lines 36-38).**

The Contractor’s Licensing Board reasoned that the work performed was structural in nature and required a general contractor’s license pursuant to S.C. Code Ann §§ 40-11-20(8) and 40-11-410(1)(1976, as amended). **(R. p. 104, lines 13-20); (R. p. 161, lines 13-20).**

---

<sup>2</sup> The Court of Common Pleas took judicial notice of the LLR Order. **(R. p. 420, lines 15-17)**

<sup>3</sup> The Contractor’s Licensing Board also referenced an exception which would allow an unlicensed contractor to perform work when supervised by a party licensed within the scope of work performed. The Order concluded that this exception was valid, but inapplicable as it found that Marsh was not supervised by a licensed contractor at the Project. **(R. p. 104, lines 36-38); (R. p. 161, lines 36-38).**

Although Tim Marsh testified in the proceeding that he believed he had permission from the LLR to perform the work in question due to an email communication to Roger Lowe from Marsh legal counsel Mr. Bill Richey, the Contractor's Licensing Board determined that the information provided to Lowe failed to mention that Marsh's scope of work "was being used to provide immediate structural support to prevent the floor from imminent failure" and had Lowe been made aware of this he "would have advised that a general contractor's license was required." **(R. p. 102, lines 29-34); (R. p. 159, lines 29-34)**. The Findings of Fact also note that Marsh only sought Lowe's advice "after the work was performed..." **Id.**

The LLR Order cites the State's position that the "AP Lift 430 (foam) was being used to provide immediate structural support to prevent the floor system from imminent failure." **(R. p. 159, lines 24-27); (R. p. 102, lines 24-27)**.

The LLR Order notes that Marsh's information provided to Mr. Lowe failed to state that the AP Lift was being used to provide immediate structural support to prevent the floor system from immediate failure. **(R. p. 102, lines 29-34); (R. p. 159, lines 29-34)**. Thus, the conclusion was that the project was structural and required a general contractor's license. **Id. (R. p. 104, lines 17-20); (R. p. 161, lines 17-20)**.

The LLR Order also states in the Conclusion of Law at page 5 paragraph 3, among other things:

Based on a review of the evidence presented, the hearing officer determined that the Engineer's report recommended the Alchemy Polymers AP Lift 430 product used by the Respondent (Marsh) provided full continuous support to the structural members in the crawlspace of the project(s). The Engineer described the high density expanding closed cell structural foam system as providing the compressive strength to adequately support the superstructure. As such, the hearing officer determined that the scope of work for the use of this foam underneath the crawlspace of the project(s) was structural in nature and required a general contractor's license pursuant to S.C. Code Ann §§ 40-11-20(8) and 40-11-410(1) (1976, as amended).

**(R. p. 104, lines 13-20); (R. p. 161, lines 13-20).**

**D. The Action**

Plaintiff filed an amended complaint for foreclosure of mechanic's lien on March 12, 2018 against Hamilton and Steeple. **(R. pp. 50-62)**. It alleged three causes of action: (1) for breach of contract, (2) mechanic's lien and, (3) for *quantum meruit*. **(R. pp. 50-56)**. On February 28, 2019, Defendants filed an answer, affirmative defenses and counterclaim generally denying the allegations of the complaint. **(R. pp. 63-67)**. Many of the affirmative defenses are related to the issue of Marsh's failure to be licensed and the lack of ability to bring a lawsuit to seek payment. The counterclaim is for tortious interference with contract as to Steeple.<sup>4</sup> **(R. p. 66)**.

A bench trial was held on February 5, 2020. Plaintiff called two witnesses, Tim Marsh, the owner of Marsh Waterproofing and Avant Armentrout, an employee. The Defendants presented no witnesses and moved for a directed verdict after the Plaintiff's case concluded. The trial centered on certain work performed by Marsh and whether Marsh had a contractual arrangement with either of the defendants and whether Marsh was required to have a license in South Carolina to perform the work it did, and, if so, whether the failure to have that license is grounds to find for Defendants or otherwise dismiss Plaintiff's claims.

At the trial it was established, without dispute, that Marsh held no licenses in South Carolina. **(R. p. 397, line 24-p. 399, line 8)**. There was also no evidence presented at trial of any contract signed by or on behalf of either defendant for any work performed by Plaintiff, but rather only an agreement entered into between Marsh Waterproofing and State Acquisitions. **(R. pp. 545-546)**.

---

<sup>4</sup> The counterclaim was voluntarily dismissed and, therefore, not part of this appeal.

The Appellants were not able to provide evidence as to the fitness of Marsh's work due to the fact that Marsh failed to pull a permit which resulted in the Subject Property never being inspected. Additionally, the filing of the mechanics lien by Marsh resulted in a termination of the lease on the Subject property. The Appellants have, therefore, never had the ability to inspect the work on their own accord.

On February 12, 2020, a Judgment in a Civil Case was entered by the Court in favor of Plaintiff finding the mechanic's lien in the amount of \$36,800.00 valid and directing the parties to try to agree on the amount of attorney's fees to be awarded Plaintiff. **(R. pp. 1-2)**

On March 9, 2020, the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas issued a Final Order for Foreclosure of Mechanic's Lien, Non-Jury Decision. **(R. pp. 3-12)**. The Court then amended its March 9<sup>th</sup> 2020 Order on March 11<sup>th</sup> 2020. **(R. pp. 13-26)**. The Court made Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and found, among other things, that correspondence between Hamilton and Marsh indicated that Alexander Burns, who signed an authorization for the work to be performed, was acting for Hamilton and Hamilton authorized the improvements to be made by Marsh and agreed to Plaintiff's proposal forming a valid agreement, **(R. p. 14, lines 16-22)**, that Defendants relied on the lack of licensure of Marsh for their defense **(R. p. 15, lines 10-12)**, that due to the nature of the work, Marsh was not required to be licensed **(R. p. 15, line 1-p. 16, line 15)**, and that Defendants did not rely on Marsh being licensed. **(R. p. 17, line 14-p. 18, line 16)**.

On March 23 2020, Defendants moved pursuant to SCRCP 59(a) and (e) for an order to alter or amend its judgment of March 11, 2020 to find for the Defendants, to direct entry of a new judgment pursuant to SCRCP 59(e)(2) and in the alternative to grant a new trial.<sup>5</sup> **(R. pp.**

---

<sup>5</sup> Defendants had previously moved on February 24, 2020 for similar relief based on the trial court's Order, but that motion was never decided and was in effect superseded by the March 22, 2020 motion which sought to alter and amend the Amended Order.

**126-345**). The basis of that motion was that there was no contract between the Plaintiff and any defendant, that there was no authority to award attorney's fees against Hamilton, that the Final Order contradicts the testimony of the Defendants' witness, that Marsh was not entitled to bring a lawsuit because it was unlicensed in South Carolina, that the testimony of Tim Marsh was inconsistent, that the order misstates Mr. Burns' testimony, that judgment on the mechanics lien is not a justiciable matter, and that the court was prejudiced by improper presentation of extrinsic information regarding a critical witness for Defendants. **(R. pp. 126-141)**.

On April 28, 2020, oral argument was held on the record regarding Defendants' Rule 59 motion as well as the awarding of attorney's fees and expenses. **(R. pp. 475-519)**. On May 11, 2020, the Court entered Supplemental Order to Amend Final Order of Foreclosure of Mechanics Lien, Non-Jury Decision ("Supplemental Order"), Filed March 11, 2020. **(R. pp. 27-32)**. In it the Court "conclude[d] that [its] [ ] rulings at the time of the trial of the case and those necessarily contained in the entry of Judgment were sound and are hereby reaffirmed." **(R. p. 27, lines 10-12)**. In the same order the Court granted attorney's fees and paralegal fees in favor of Plaintiff and against the Defendants in the amount of \$28,852.00 and costs of \$1,042.00 for a total of \$29,894.00. **(R. p. 29, lines 18-20)**.

A Notice of Appeal with exhibits was filed on June 10, 2020, which appeals the Final Order of Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr. dated March 11, 2020 and Supplemental Order dated May 11, 2020. **(R. p. 344-345)**

## **II. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

"In an action at law tried without a jury, an appellate court's scope of review extends merely to the correction of errors of law." Brown v. Dick Smith Nissan, Inc., 414 S.C. 101, 105, 777 S.E.2d 208 (2015), quoting, Temple v. Tec-Fab, Inc., 381 S.C. 597, 599-600, 675 S.E.2d

414, 415 (2009). "The Court will not disturb the trial court's findings unless they are found to be without evidence that reasonably supports those findings." Id.

### III. ARGUMENT

#### A. THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS ERRED BY ENTERING A MONEY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF AN UNLICENSED CONTRACTOR IN VIOLATION OF S.C. CODE §§40-11-370 AND 40-11-30.

“No entity or individual may practice as a contractor by performing or offering to perform contracting work for which the total cost of construction is greater than five thousand dollars for general contracting ... without a license issued in accordance with this chapter”. C-Sculptures, LLC v. Brown, 403 S.C. 53, 57, 742 S.E.2d 359, 361 (2013), citing S.C. Code Ann. § 40-11-30 (Supp.2012). “An entity which does not have a valid license as required by this chapter may not bring an action either at law or in equity to enforce the provisions of a contract.” Id., quoting, S.C. Code Ann. § 40-11-370. It is the responsibility of the contractor to determine whether a license was required to perform the work involved. The record is clear and uncontested that when Marsh contracted to do the work it did, it was unlicensed. Timothy Marsh, president of Marsh, testified that he was unlicensed in South Carolina. (**R. p. 398, line 25-p. 399, line 8**). That on its face should have been the end of the case and grounds to grant a motion for a directed verdict.

##### 1. **The Court of Common Pleas Erred by Failing to Consider the Determination of the South Carolina LLR Contractor’s Licensing Board Which Found That the Plaintiff Was Acting as an Unlicensed General Contractor in Violation of the Law.**

The Contractor’s Licensing Board is the established agency charged with the regulation of licensing within the industry. The Court of Common Pleas improperly disregarded the fact that the South Carolina LLR Contractor’s Licensing Board was the agency that had the authority

to regulate licensing issues and that it had, prior to the trial, determined that Marsh was required to have a license. Yet, despite that finding, and the overwhelming facts in this case, it stated:

LLR doesn't have the capacity or jurisdiction to rule in this Court whether failure to have a license bars pursuing a mechanic's lien. They simply don't have that authority to make that kind of decision. That's something only for me. And that's something that we can, of course, argue about.

**(R. p. 422, lines 3-9).**<sup>6</sup>

The Appellants would certainly concede that the LLR does not have the power to bind the Court of Common Pleas. The Appellants do, however, think that the LLR Order should have been considered by the Court. The Court of Common Pleas erred in dismissing, or failing to consider, the LLR's finding that Marsh was required to be licensed to do the job. "The construction of a statute by the agency charged with its administration will be accorded the most respectful consideration and will not be overruled absent compelling reasons." Dunton v. S.C. Bd. Of Exam'rs in Optometry, 291 S.C. 221, 223, 353 S.E.2d 132, 133 (1987); see also Nucor Steel v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of S.C., 310 S.C. 539, 543, 426 S.E.2d 319, 321(1992) ("Where an agency is charged with the execution of a statute, the agency's interpretation should not be overruled without cogent reason."). Thus, the appellants would argue that the trial court failed to provide any consideration of the LLR Order, much less "the most respectful consideration."

Thus, without citing a cogent or compelling reason, the Court of Common Pleas should not have ruled contrary to the LLR as to the issue of licensing. Because the LLR Order made a valid determination about the licensing requirements, the Court was then obligated to either follow that Order or provide a compelling reason for not following the LLR Order.

---

<sup>6</sup> Even without the holding of the LLR, the only way that the Court could have found Marsh to have a valid mechanic's lien would have been if either (a) Marsh possessed a valid general contractor's license in South Carolina; (b) that a license was not required; or (c) that Marsh was working under the supervision of a licensed contractor. None of those conditions were presented at trial.

As an unlicensed contractor, Marsh had no right to bring an action for payment and the Court of Common Pleas should have dismissed the action. It was, therefore, an error of law to award a money judgment to Marsh.

**2. Regardless of the Ruling of the LLR, It Was Error for the Court of Common Pleas to Find that Marsh did not Need to be Licensed for the Contracted Job.**

Regardless of the LLR Order, the Court of Common Pleas should have been aware that Marsh was required to be licensed when undertaking work which was structural in nature and initiated pursuant to an internal Church's Chicken public safety initiative.

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