THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Nov 20 2020

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2018-CP-10-00262
Appellate Case No.: 2020-000921

Marsh Waterproofing, Inc., Respondent

v.

Steeple Dorchester Ltd. and Hamilton Management Services Company, Inc., Appellants

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Albert A. Lacour, III
Bar No.: 3099
CLAWSON and STAUBES, LLC
126 Seven Farms Drive, Suite 200
Charleston, South Carolina 29492-8144
Phone: (843) 577-2026
Fax: (843) 722-2867
Email: alacour@clawsonandstaubes.com
Attorney for Marsh Waterproofing, Inc.

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

Defendants also claim that Marsh was supposed to pull a building permit but the proposal of Marsh does not contain any such requirement. Additionally, the work of Marsh came very last in the order of the work, so it stands to reason that the contractor doing the preparatory work would need to pull permits at the beginning of the job.

PROCEEDINGS BELOW

Before Defendants answered the Complaint they filed a Motion to Dismiss the case on the grounds that Marsh did not possess a general contractors license. Plaintiff's Return to Motion raised issues of fact as to whether Marsh was the general contractor or not. The motion was scheduled to be heard in this case on February 7, 2019 and Defendants appeared at the hearing and withdrew it. The parties proceeded to take the depositions of the primary witnesses of both sides. Following the depositions Defendants filed a second motion to dismiss the case for lack of a license and that motion was denied by Judge McCoy on January 15, 2020 on the basis that there were genuine issues of material fact to be determined.

Defendants counterclaim for intentional interference with contractual relations was dismissed in five of the six cases on motion by Plaintiff for summary judgment. Defendants perfected appeals in three of the five cases. The consolidated appeals have now been dismissed. The only county where the counterclaim survived the

Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment was this case in Charleston County. When this case reached trial, the Defendants withdrew the counterclaim.

This case came up for trial on the jury roster and was called February 5, 2020. The Defendants conceded they did not intend to dispute the amount of the debt, only the entitlement of Marsh to recover. The jury venire was excused and the trial proceeded with the Defendants presenting the issues of the lack of licensing and the role of Marsh in the projects to the court sitting without a jury. The Final Order, filed March 11, 2020, contained detailed findings of fact and conclusions of law on the issue, and held that Marsh was not acting as the general contractor for the projects and need not be licensed as a general contractor. The Order granted judgment to Marsh for \$36,800, the value of the work in the proposal. A timely Motion to Alter or Amend and Plaintiff's Motion for the award of fees and costs were heard April 28, 2020. A Supplemental Order denying the Motion for Reconsideration and awarding attorney's fees and costs to Marsh in the amount of \$29,894 was filed May 11, 2020. This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A proceeding for the enforcement of a statutory lien, such as a mechanic's lien, is legal in nature. Willard v. Finch, 123 S.C. 56, 116 S.E. 96 (1923); Stoudenmire Heating & Air Conditioning Co. v. Craig Bldg. Partnership, 308 S.C. 298, 301, 417 S.E.2d 634, 636 (Ct. App. 1992); Butler Contr., Inc. v. Court St., LLC, 369 S.C. 121, 631 S.E.2d 252 (2006).

In an action at law, when a case is tried without a jury, the trial court's findings of fact will be upheld on appeal when they are reasonably supported by the evidence. Stated another way, the trial court's findings of fact will not be disturbed on appeal unless wholly unsupported by the evidence or unless it clearly appears the findings were influenced or controlled by an error of law. The trial court's findings in such a case are equivalent to a jury's findings in a law action. Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976); Willard, 123 S.C. 56, 58, 116 S.E. 96, 96. Review in the appellate court is limited to determining if there is any evidence to support the ruling of the trial court. Stoudenmire, 308 S.C. 298, 301, 417 S.E.2d 634, 636 (*citing*: Southern Pole Buildings, Inc. v. Williams 289 S.C. 521, 523, 347 SE2d 121, 122 (Ct. App. 1986)).

I.

Marsh was not the general contractor.

Title 40, Chapter 11 of the South Carolina Code is the statutory regulatory scheme for general and mechanical contractors. A “general contractor” is one who performs or supervises or offers to perform or supervise “general construction”. S.C. Code §40-11-20(9). “General construction” is installation, replacement or repair of a building or structure. S.C. Code §40-11-20(8). The facts in the record establish that Marsh Waterproofing, Inc. does not fall within that definition. These definitions reflect the reality that general contractors are defined essentially by either the nature of the work performed or the scope of the work performed.

A. The nature of the work was not general contracting.

Analyzing this case by the nature of the work, S.C. Code §40-11-20, subparagraph (8) would require us to build a building or structure, or replace a building or structure, or repair a building or structure. The record reflects Marsh made absolutely no repairs or modifications to the existing structural elements of the building. (A Armentrout TR P 98, L 23 through P 101, L 2). Marsh did mix up a couple of bags of concrete to close up the opening in the slab, but made no repair or modification to the existing slab. That work does not even remotely approach the minimum \$5,000 value of work necessary to trigger the licensing requirement. The foam was installed in the open air space between the ground and the bottom of the steel deck. (T Marsh TR P12, L 9 through L 18). It does not attach to any of the structural elements and does not modify

or change any of the structural elements. The foam simply occupies the air space to prevent the slab from moving downward if the slab fails in the future. It is not supporting the existing slab as initially installed. The scope of work outlined by the engineering report does not specify any repairs to any existing structural elements. Marsh made no repairs to any supporting soils, footings, cmu walls, brick masonry walls, steel girders, steel joists, steel decking or the existing slab. (A Armentrout TR P 100, L 6 through P 101, L 2). None were called for by the engineering report. (Exhibit 4). The installation of foam for supplemental support is not a classification of work identified as being the work of a general contractor in the statutory scheme in code section S.C. Code §40-11-410. (Exhibit 14), (T Marsh TR P 49, L 22 through P 51, L 8).

The argument advanced by the appellant that the work is "structural in nature" is based on the misconception that the foam is actually bearing any load when it is installed. The testimony of Avant Armentrout (Trial record p 85-103) clearly reflects that he crawled into the crawlspace under the slab to install the foam. At that time the slab was being fully supported and held off the ground by the other structural elements of the building. The soil, footings, cmu or brick walls, girders or trusses, and the corrugated steel decking were all supporting the floor slab. Installation of the foam did not change this fact. The foam will not bear any load or support any weight of the slab when installed, and will never do so unless, and until, one of the other structural members fails, at some unknown point in the future, or perhaps never. If the slab itself, or one of the supporting members, does fail at some future time, the weight of the slab will be

borne at that time by the foam. Until then, the foam does nothing to support the structural loads.

B. The LLR email and Order reached the same result as the court.

The administrative proceeding started when Mr. Burns, on behalf of Hamilton, wrote to the LLR after the work was complete and told them that Marsh was acting as general contractor on the projects. He apparently believed that an adverse ruling by the LLR would prevent Marsh from bringing an action to collect the debt Hamilton owed for the work, so set about to manufacture a defense. The trial judge ruled that the LLR Order would not be dispositive of any factual issues in the trial and that the court was free to find the facts in accordance with the evidence presented. (trial transcript p. 76). Even so, the Appellant relies heavily on the LLR proceedings in its brief, so it is important to note that LLR reached the same result as the court, but by a different route.

LLR has twice told Marsh that no contracting license is required for the six projects, of which this is one. The first time is the email exchange between personal counsel for Marsh and the administrator of the LLR which is trial Exhibit 13. (Record page ____). This exchange was made immediately prior to the filing of the mechanic's liens.

The second time is the Final Order of the LLR. The LLR issued a citation and a Cease and Desist Order in April 2018. Both were appealed by Marsh and in its Final Order entered July 23, 2019, (Record page ____), the LLR Hearing Officer held that Marsh had a reasonable basis to believe that either Hamilton was the general contractor

or that Hamilton had hired a general contractor so that, in either event, Marsh needed no license for these six projects. The exception in S.C. Code §40-11-270(E) and the considerations illustrated in Teseniar v. Professional Plastering & Stucco, Inc. 407 S.C. 83, 754 SE2d 267, (Ct. App. 2014) applied to excuse Marsh from needing any license for the work performed.

The Hearing Officer found Marsh to have a reasonable basis for believing that Defendants had engaged a general contractor on the project. The specific factual findings of the Hearing Officer which support the finding of a reasonable belief by Marsh can be found within the Final Order of the LLR at paragraphs 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9 on page 2; paragraphs 13, 16, and 17 on page 3; and paragraphs 18, 19, 20, 21 on page 4. These factual findings are contrary to the position taken by Defendants. The Hearing Officer found that Marsh had a reasonable belief that someone else was acting as general contractor and therefore Marsh fit within the exception in S.C. Code §40-11-270 (E) and the Teseniar case in paragraph 4 of the conclusions on page 5. The Hearing Officer found mitigating circumstances and withdrew the Cease and Desist Order and dismissed the Citation issued in connection with these cases leaving Marsh free to proceed in these cases.

The Hearing Officer found mitigating circumstances and excused compliance with the statute, so he never addressed the absence of any classification for the work within the licensing statute defining the classifications of work of a general contractor. Trial Exhibit 14. (Record page __)

Contrary to the argument made in Appellants Brief at page 3 and again at page

10, the Hearing Officer specifically found that the email sent by counsel was not misleading and clearly explained the nature of the material to be installed and its purpose. (LLR order p. 5 note 1).

The cases cited by Appellant for the proposition that the courts must give great deference to agency rulings and interpretations are the rule on direct appeal from the agency action. The rule is not absolute, and where the agency ruling is contrary to the plain language of the statute, the courts may disregard the agency ruling even on direct appeal. Sierra Club v. S.C. Dept. of Health and Environmental Control 426 S.C. 236, 826 SE 2d 595 (2019). In this case the agency never addressed the absence of a classification for the work of installing foam for purposes other than insulation.

C. The scope of the work was not general contracting.

Analyzing this case by the scope of the work, general contractors are sometimes identified by the fact that they contract to perform all of the work required to complete the project. The complete scope of work was designed by the engineering firm hired by Hamilton. Trial Exhibit 4 (Record p. ___); (T Marsh TR P 26, L 4 through P 29, L 1). Marsh clearly did not do all of the work. The proposal of Marsh lists multiple exclusions for all of the preparation work. (Exhibit 6), (T Marsh TR P 31, L 13 through P 37, L 4). Marsh was not the only contractor on the project. Others performed the preparatory work and others provided the typical general contractor responsibilities set forth below. Marsh only arrived last, in the order of the work, to install the foam in the airspace above grade and below the slab. (T Marsh TR P 28, L 14 through P 29, L 1).

The scope of the general contractor's work generally includes providing permitting, temporary utilities, temporary facilities, scheduling of the trades, sequencing of the trades, supervision of the trades, and general overall responsibility to see all of the work gets fully and properly executed. None of the foregoing are within the scope of work defined by the proposal of Marsh. (Exhibit 6).

The representations of the Defendants to Marsh that they had a "contractor" working "one step ahead" of Marsh to do the preparatory work outlined in the engineer's report reasonably led Marsh to believe a general contractor was working ahead of Marsh on the project. (Exhibit 8) , (T Marsh TR P 37, L 25 through P 40, L 10). The prep work involved multiple trades, all of which required separate trade licenses, and would have required someone to pull a building permit before Marsh ever set foot on the project. To the extent that Marsh could observe whether these "general contractor" obligations were being met by others, they appeared to be furnished by someone, and it was not Marsh. Marsh was not present at the time the preparation work was performed, so Marsh was not in a position to supervise the other trades or be responsible for general conditions, sequencing, scheduling, permitting or facilities. (T Marsh TR P 26, L 12 through P 29, L 1).

D. The Defendants did not rely on the existence of a license.

Marsh made no representation to Defendants that it was licensed in the correspondence or the proposal or the discussions of the parties. The Teseniar case stands for the proposition that "where the reason for the rule ends, so ends the rule". On

the facts in the record the parties discussed licensing before the work started and Tim Marsh told Mr. Burns that he was not licensed in South Carolina and asked if Mr. Burns thought he needed to be. (T Marsh TR P 56, L 3 through L 9). Mr. Burns promised to check on it. We don't know with whom he checked or whether he checked, but the parties proceeded with the work. Mr. Burns could not have relied upon the existence of a license for the qualifications of the contractor if he knew no license existed. Being aware Marsh was not licensed in South Carolina, common sense dictates that Mr. Burns and Hamilton would be obligated to raise the issue with Marsh before proceeding with the work

In addition, Mr. Burns was referred to Marsh by Church's, and aware of the past record of Marsh for making repairs for the Church's franchise in multiple states at numerous stores, and so was fully aware of the extensive experience and the ability of Marsh to install the foam. (T Marsh TR P 29, L 2 through P 30, L 13). He was not relying upon the existence of a license to know the contractor's qualifications to do the work. He was fully aware of the experience and the qualifications and the track record of the contractor and was relying upon that knowledge, rather than the existence of a license in deciding whether to engage the contractor. "The statute involved, and similar ones, are designed to protect the public from being imposed upon by persons not qualified to render a professional service. ... In the case before us, [Defendant] was in a position to know, and did know, the qualifications of [Marsh]. No reliance was placed upon the existence of a license, as presumptively would be the case if [Marsh] was dealing with the general public." Teseniar v. Professional Plastering & Stucco, Inc. 407 S.C. 83, 97,

754 SE2d 267, 274 (Ct. App. 2014). In the present case, the testimony reflects that there was never any complaint made about the quality of the work or the quantity of the work of Marsh. (T Marsh TR P 42, L 12 through P 43, L 6), and (A Armentrout TR P 97, L 7 through P 98, L 2).

E. On motion under SCRCP Rule 59 (e) testimony available at the time of trial may not be submitted by affidavit after the end of the trial.

One “[c]annot use [a] Rule 59(e) motion to raise matters that could have been raised before judgment, but were not.” Gartside v. Gartside 383 S.C. 35, 43, 677 SE2d 621, 625 (Ct. App. 2009).

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